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VIA EMAIL (mgil@rsed.org) & CERTIFIED MAIL 

February 28, 2019 

Marie Issa Gil, MPA/HSA 

Executive Director 

Rocketship Delta Prep 

1700 Cavallo Road 

Antioch, CA 94509 

 

Re: Notice of Violation; 

Rocketship Delta Prep Charter School 

Dear Ms. Gil: 

 

This letter shall serve as the Antioch Unified School District’s (“District”) Notice of 

Violation issued to the Rocketship Delta Prep (“Charter School”), which includes a reasonable 

opportunity to refute and/or remedy the violations, pursuant to Education Code section 47607 and 

Title 5, CCR section 11968.5.2.  As discussed further below, the District hereby notifies the 

Charter School that this Notice of Violation is issued based on the following grounds for revocation 

pursuant to Education Code section 47607(c): 

1. Committed a material violation of any conditions, standards, or procedures set forth 

in the charter. 

2. Failed to meet generally accepted accounting principles, or engaged in fiscal 

mismanagement. 

3. Violated any provision of law. 

I. BACKGROUND FACTS AND SPECIFIC AREAS OF CONCERN 

On December 7, 2016, the District’s Board of Trustees (“Board”) approved the petition 

(“Charter”) to establish the Charter School for a five-year term commencing on July 1, 2018.  

(Enclosure No. 1.)  Thereafter, the District and Charter School executed a Memorandum of 

Understanding (“MOU”), approved by the Board on June 27, 2018, outlining the Charter School’s 

additional operational obligations, including the provision of special education and related services 

to students enrolled in the Charter School.  The parties agreed when executing the MOU that any 

violation of that agreement also constitutes grounds for revocation pursuant to Education Code 

section 47607(c).  (MOU, p. 1; Enclosure No. 2.)   
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On November 14, 2018 the District notified the Charter School of its failure to adhere to 

and comply with specific obligations in the MOU.  (Enclosure No. 3.)  The Charter School was 

slow to respond and to date, has not addressed all of the District’s concerns, as discussed more 

fully below.  The District also notified the Charter School of its failure to timely comply with 

statutory audit report requirements.  The Charter School was again unpunctual in responding, 

requested numerous extensions without providing explanations for such delays and to date, has 

not addressed all of the District’s concerns with that issue, as discussed more fully below.  As a 

result, the District’s Administration has lost all confidence in the Charter School’s leadership team. 

A. Failed to Provide Timely Audit Report. 

The Charter School violated Education Code sections 47604.3 and 47604.33, and related 

sections in the Charter and MOU, did not adhere to generally accepted accounting principles, 

engaged in fiscal mismanagement, and also failed to respond promptly to the District’s inquires 

and requests to provide the District its 2017-2018 Audit report, due on December 15, 2018.   

 

The Charter School was required to submit its audit report to the District on or before 

December 15, 2018, pursuant to Education Code section 47604.33 and the Charter.  However, the 

Charter School notified the District on December 17, 2018, via email that the report was not ready 

and made their first request for an extension of that deadline, stating their auditors required 

additional time to complete the work but confirmed the report would be complete by December 

31, 2018.  No report was submitted on December 31, 2018. 

 

On January 8, 2019, the Charter School asked for a second extension via email, stating 

their audit report would not be available until January 23, 2019.  In a January 8, 2019 letter to the 

Charter School from Interim Associate Superintendent Gamba, the District approved the extension 

to January 23, 2019.  (Enclosure No. 4.)  However, in that letter, Ms. Gamba stated that any further 

extension would require the details of the extraordinary circumstance preceding the request, along 

with a supporting letter from the auditor with the rationale for the extension.  Despite this clear 

direction to the Charter School, no such supporting documentation was included when the Charter 

School requested a third extension via email on January 24, 2019, to February 15, 2019.   

 

On January 29, 2019, the District denied that third extension request, requiring the Charter 

School to provide the report and the name/contact information of their auditors no later than the 

close of business on February 5, 2019.  (Enclosure No. 5.)  The District notified the State 

Controller’s Office and the California Department of Education of the late audit, as is required, on 

February 6, 2019.  (Enclosure No. 6.)  To date, the Charter School has not provided the District a 

satisfactory audit report for the 2017-2018 school year.   

 

The Charter School’s failure to comply with the law and terms of its Charter, and to not 

provide any rationale for the delay of the audit report nor any independent auditor’s support or 

rationale for the extensions are very alarming to the District.  As the chartering agency, the District 

is charged with the obligation to monitor the Charter School’s fiscal condition and must have a 

full understanding as to the need for any extension of the statutory deadlines to submit audit 

reports.  The Charter School’s conduct to date is entirely unacceptable. 
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In addition to the foregoing, included in the Charter School’s timely submission of its 2018-

2019 First Interim Report is a column indicating the budget amount as $5,870,073.00.  (Enclosure 

No. 7.)  This figure does not match the amount of $5,368,000.00 listed in the same column but in 

the original budget submitted to the District with its Petition when approved by the Board.  

(Enclosure No. 8.)  A difference of over $500,000.00.  The District requested on January 29, 2019 

that the Charter School provide documentation confirming that its Board of Directors adopted a 

revised 2018-2019 budget and was given information that it cannot be linked back to the First 

Interim Report.  (Enclosure No. 5.)   

 

The Charter School is required to submit its budget to the District by June 30 of each year.  

If a revision is necessary, it is understood that there is a 45-day window for revision of the original 

budget.  The information provided by the Charter School to the District on February 6, 2019 was 

consolidated information for the “Rocketship Education Organization” that includes figures and 

data for schools not chartered by the District.   

 

In regards to this delinquent information submitted by the Charter School, it was not a 

budget but is instead a  consolidated 2017-2018 audit report which identified certain global 

deficiencies in internal controls of the Rocketship Education Organization that were considered 

material weaknesses and  deficiencies.  The consolidated audit report included a February 4, 2019 

letter to the California Department of Education acknowledging the Charter School’s late 

submission beyond the December 15 deadline.  (Enclosure No. 9.)  The Rocketship Education 

Organization consolidated audit findings are summarized as follows: 

 

 Throughout the audit process, revisions to the trial balance were made by management to 

correct balances and transactions after the audit process began. The number of journal 

entries required indicates that internal control processes were not operating effectively 

throughout the fiscal year and that the closing process was not completed in a timely 

manner.  Month-end closing procedures were not sufficient to ensure correct balances at 

the time of the audit.  Potential errors occurred in reporting account balances and risk that 

material errors may not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. 

 

 It was noted during testing that four teachers did not have valid credentials for the full 

period under review that resulted in an instructional minute deficiency.  Internal controls 

for tracking teacher credentials were insufficient to ensure compliance.  Instructional time 

under non-credentialed teachers were subtracted from the total instructional minutes, 

which resulted in a shortage of instructional minutes. 

 

 A material audit adjustment was disclosed in the net amount of $422,429.00. This audit 

correction resulted in a substantial decrease to the Rocketship Delta Prep’s fund balance 

from $923,707.00 to $501,278.00. 

 

Further, the information provided establishes that the Charter School’s sister school 

“Rocketship Futuro Academy” operating in Concord, ended the 2017-2018 fiscal year with a 

negative ending fund balance of ($55,428) suggesting that school is insolvent.  Such information 

raises concerns that the Charter School may also be operating at a loss resulting in a negative fund 
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balance.  The budget reports also fail to make any reference to setting aside a 5% reserve as 

required in the MOU. 

 

As a final matter, the District is not satisfied with the Charter School’s audit report nor the 

adoption of  the revised original budget for Rocketship Delta Prep because they consolidate 

Rocketship Education Organization’s entire operation, i.e., the audit report includes the budget 

information of twenty (20) separate schools located in California, Tennessee, Wisconsin, and the 

District of Columbia.  The Charter makes no reference to audit reports being compiled and 

submitted to the District in a consolidated form.  The consolidated report impedes the District’s 

ability to fully identify issues and concerns regarding the individual operation of the Charter 

School.   

 

 

Corrective Action Required. 

 

As a result of these serious deficiencies, the District requires that any Charter School 

response to this Notice of Violation must include at a minimum: 

 

1. A stand-alone Audit Report for the Rocketship Delta Prep for the period ending June 

30, 2018 (not a consolidated audit report). 

2. An explanation and legal justification for preparing a consolidated audit report in place 

of a separate audit for the Charter School as required by the Charter. 

3. An explanation and legal justification for preparing a consolidated budget report in 

place of a separate budget for the Charter School as required by the Charter. 

4. An explanation about the failure of Rocketship Education Organization to comply with 

state audit reporting deadlines as another indicator of poor management and internal 

controls. 

5. Documentation confirming the Charter School’s Board of Director’s approved a budget 

that pertains only to the Rocketship Delta Prep to provide the District with the ability 

to perform satisfactory oversight of the financial condition of the school. 

B. Failed to Maintain Appropriate Credential Status of All Teachers. 

The Charter School violated Education Code sections 47604.3 and 47605(l), and related 

sections in the Charter, and also failed to respond promptly to the District’s inquires and requests 

to provide the District teacher credential status information.   

The District sent the Charter School two requests on September 18 and October 29, 2018, 

to provide information confirming it is complying with its statutory requirements, and obligations 

in the Charter, regarding the qualifications/credentials of certificated staff.  (Enclosure No. 10.)  

Specifically, Education Code section 47605(l) mandates in pertinent part that: 
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Teachers in charter schools shall hold a Commission on Teacher 

Credentialing certificate, permit, or other document equivalent to 

that which a teacher in other public schools would be required to 

hold. These documents shall be maintained on file at the charter 

school and are subject to period inspection by the chartering 

authority.  

 

In reviewing public information available to the District, the Administration is unable to 

confirm that all certificated staff providing instruction to students are in fact credentialed.  Rather, 

based on that information it appears that as many as six certificated staff may not be fully 

credentialed.  Further, the District is unable to confirm that all Charter School administrators hold 

a valid administrative credential.  To date, the Charter School has failed to promptly respond to 

the District’s requests.   

The District’s concerns are heightened due to the recent disclosure in the audit report, 

referenced in Section A, above, involving the auditor’s testing of the Charter School’s sister-

schools “Rocketship Redwood City Prep,” “Rocketship Spark Academy,” and “Rocketship Alma 

Academy.”  Specifically, the auditor concluded that “during testing,” “four teachers did not have 

valid credentials for the full period under review that resulted in an instructional minute 

deficiency.”  This finding is alarming and exacerbates the need for an immediate response from 

the Charter School. 

C. Failed to Provide Continuum of Services for All Special Needs Students. 

The Charter School violated Education Code sections 47604.3, 47641(a) and related 

sections in the Charter and MOU, and also failed to respond promptly to the District’s inquires and 

requests to provide the District information regarding special needs students served by the Charter 

School.   

 

Specifically, the MOU requires that within 72 hours of a Special Education students’ 

expulsion, withdrawal, or disenrollment from the Charter School, the Charter School shall notify 

the District’s Director of Special Education.  To date, the Charter School has not followed through 

with this obligation. 

 

The MOU requires that by September 30, the Charter School shall provide a written report 

to the District containing the following information for every Special Education student who exited 

the Charter School during the immediately prior tri-annual period (excluding 

graduation/matriculation): 

 

(1) Charter School’s most recently approved offer of placement, services, and FAPE; 

(2) The Reason(s) for the student’s exit; 

(3) The student’s parent/guardian contact information. 

 

To date, the Charter School has not provided this information to the District. 

 

 Based on a review of the limited information received from the Charter School for the first 

quarter of the 2018-2019 school year, as well as reports from Charter School parents of special 
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education students, and the District’s review of special education students leaving the Charter 

School and returning to the District, the District also has the following concerns:  

 

 It appears that Charter School staff identified as “special education teachers” in the special 

education records of students leaving the Charter School and returning to the District may 

not have the necessary special education or teaching credentials.  This may have resulted 

in multiple students being denied specialized academic instruction and/or a failure to fully 

implement IEPs. 

 

 It appears that all new special needs students entering the Charter School with a “nonpublic 

school” and/or “special day class” placement as the last agreed-upon offer of a free and 

appropriate public education (“FAPE”), were not offered a comparable placement at the 

Charter School.  Rather, it appears the Charter School consistently removes and replaces 

such specialized programs with unspecialized placements at the Charter School, perhaps 

to avoid more costly services and to prevent the loss of enrollment. 

 

 It has been reported that speech and language services, occupational therapy services, and 

one-to-one aide services were either not provided, or delivered late to special needs 

students.  It has also been reported that parents are not consistently notified of their rights 

to compensatory education, for all special education services which the Charter School 

may have failed to deliver.  

 

 It has been reported that Charter School administrators advise parents of special needs 

students to disenroll from the Charter School and return to the District when a student’s 

disability related needs exceeded services available at the Charter School. 

 

The foregoing concerns are in direct violation of the law and MOU which requires:  

 

 FAPE. The Charter School shall ensure that all students with disabilities who attend 

Charter School are provided FAPE in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations 

including the IDEA (20 U.S.C. §§ 1400 et seq.) and California Education Code §§ 56000, 

et seq., and their implementing regulations. 

 

 Non-Discrimination.  The Charter School shall ensure that no student otherwise eligible to 

enroll in the Charter School will be denied admission or enrollment to Charter School due 

to his/her special education status or disability, or due to Charter School's inability to 

provide necessary services.   (Ed. Code § 47605(d)(1).)  Charter School shall ensure that 

no qualified student with a disability is excluded from participation, denied the benefits of, 

exited from, or otherwise subjected to discrimination under any program of Charter School, 

on the basis of his/her disability. 

 

 Non-Discrimination.  The Charter School acknowledges that no Charter School employee, 

agent, and/or representative, shall take any action to encourage, persuade, and/or cause the 

parents/guardians of any student with an IEP seeking to enroll in the Charter School to 

agree to a different level of services other than that specified in the student’s IEP.   
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 Non-Discrimination.  The Charter School shall not require students to modify their IEP to 

align to the services offered on site at the Charter School and shall not require a student to 

exit the Charter School and enroll with the District if provision of FAPE requires a more 

intensive level of support such as special day class, nonpublic school, or residential care. 

 

As a final matter, the MOU requires that by September 1, the Charter School shall notify 

the District’s Director of Student Support Services of the designated employee responsible for 

Section 504 compliance.  To date, the Charter School has not notified the District of the designated 

employee responsible for Section 504 compliance.   

 

D. Failed to Timely Notify District of Disenrolled Pupils.    

The Charter School violated Education Code sections 47604.3, 47605(d)(3), and related 

sections in the Charter and MOU, and also failed to respond promptly to the District’s inquires and 

requests to provide the District information regarding students leaving the Charter School.   

 

The MOU requires the Charter School, within ten (10) calendar days from when a student 

was dis-enrolled, to provide written notice to the District whenever a student ceases attendance at 

the Charter School and the reasons for the departure.  To date, the District has received only one 

(1) notice despite the fact that over ten percent (10%) of the District students who enrolled at the 

Charter School have since returned to the District.  According to District records, the Charter 

School has failed to notify the District of approximately 53% of the students who have left the 

school and returned to the District. Many of the families have communicated concerns with the 

Charter School’s operations and instructional program. 

E. Failed to Provide Student Records in a Timely Manner. 

The Charter School violated Education Code sections 47604.3, 47605(d)(3), and related 

sections in the Charter and MOU, and also failed to respond promptly to the District’s inquires and 

requests to provide the District pupil records for all students leaving the Charter School.  Further, 

the Charter School’s handling of pupil records are inconsistent with Education Code section 

49068(b) which provides in pertinent part that : 

If a pupil transfers from one public school to another or to a private 

school, or transfers from a private school to a public school within 

the state, the pupil’s permanent record or a copy of it shall be 

transferred by the former public school or private school no later 

than 10 schooldays following the date the request is received from 

the public school or private school where the pupil intends to enroll. 

The Charter School has not provided the District pupil records within 10 schooldays 

following the date of the request for more than half of all student leaving the school and returning 

to the District.  This failure to timely provide pupil records may result in a misplacement and/or a 

delay or interruption of educational services and learning supports for the students. 
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II. REQUIREMENTS TO REFUTE/REMEDY VIOLATIONS 

Due to the foregoing, it is necessary for the District to issue this Notice of Violation and 

provide the Charter School a reasonable opportunity to refute and/or remedy the violations set 

forth above in Section I.  Specifically, the Charter School shall have thirty (30) days from the 

date this Notice is issued to submit its response to the District, which must be received no 

later than March 18, 2019.  Thereafter, the District will evaluate the Charter School’s written 

response to this Notice of Violation and consider whether to proceed with revocation of the 

Charter.  (5 CCR § 11968.5.2(c), (d).)   

Very truly yours, 

Antioch Unified School District 

 

 

Stephanie Anello 

Superintendent 

Enclosures:      No. 1  Charter Approval 

  No. 2  Memorandum of Understanding 

  No. 3  November 14, 2018 Letter from Superintendent Anello 

No. 4 January 8, 2019 Letter from Interim Associate Superintendent Gamba 

No. 5  January 29, 2019 Letter from Superintendent Anello  

No. 6  February 6, 2019 Letters to SCO and CDE regarding late Audit Report 

No. 7: Charter School’s 2018-2019 First Interim Report 

No. 8: Charter School’s budget submitted with Petition for approval 

No. 9: February 4, Letter from Charter School to CDE of Audit Report & 2017-

2018 Audit Report 

No. 10: September 18 and October 29, 2018 Letters to the Charter School 

 

 

cc: Board of Trustees, Antioch Unified School District 
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ENCLOSURE NO. 1 
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ENCLOSURE NO. 2 
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ENCLOSURE NO. 3 
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ENCLOSURE NO. 4 
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ENCLOSURE NO. 5 
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ENCLOSURE NO. 6 
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ENCLOSURE NO. 7 
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ENCLOSURE NO. 8 
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ENCLOSURE NO. 9 
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ENCLOSURE NO. 10 






